

Standards of Practice for Speech and Language Therapists on the Management of Feeding, Eating, Drinking and Swallowing Disorders: Working with Neonates and Babies, 2021

This document should be read in conjunction with the IASLT document

'Standards of Practice for Speech and Language Therapists on the Management of

Dysphagia' (revised edition due in 2021)

First Version	This Version	For Review
2013	2021	2026

Background to this document

The Irish Association of Speech and Language Therapists commissioned a document entitled 'Standards of Practice for Speech and Language Therapists on the Management of Dysphagia' which was initially written in 2007, revised in 2012 and with a revised edition due in 2021. To support this document, acknowledging developments in paediatrics and the changing caseload demographics, IASLT commissioned a second document 'Standards of Practice for Speech and Language Therapists on the Management of Feeding, Eating, Drinking and Swallowing Disorders: Working with Neonates and Babies' in 2013. This document is a revision of the 2013 standards for working with neonates and babies.

This document contains minimum standards of practice for Speech and Language Therapists (SLTs) in Ireland involved in assessing, treating and managing service users with Feeding, eating, drinking and swallowing disorders (FEDS). It is acknowledged that there are a number of client groups where FEDS needs differ to those of the general adult population. To ensure best practice for babies, infants and children presenting with FEDS needs, it was acknowledged by IASLT and SLTs working in the field that a document specific to this population was required.

Since this document was first launched in 2013, many changes have taken place in speech and language therapy, speech and language therapists as a population and specifically in the provision of SLT services to babies. Since 2010, all SLTs graduating in Ireland have a recognized basic dysphagia qualification. In 2016, CORU was established and this also requires dysphagia qualification as prerequisite for registration. This has resulted in a significant increase in the number of SLTs providing paediatric FEDs services and also an opportunity for the establishment and expansion of FEDs services across the country. SLTs who are developing such services will require support from SLTs in existing FEDS services and these relationships should be encouraged.

Internationally, more than I in I0 babies are born preterm. For the babies who survive premature birth, many face a lifetime of significant disability (WHO 2012). Many other babies will have either congenital or acquired conditions which can have an impact on FEDS skills. Lower infant mortality rates continue to drive the numbers of babies who will require FEDS input (CSO 2017, vital statistics Yearly Summary)

These babies will typically present in acute settings e.g. neonatal intensive care units (NICU), special care baby units, baby wards. Additionally, advances in medicine across all disciplines has resulted in many children now surviving previously life limiting illnesses, for example, cardiology, oncology, complex airway disease. In more recent times, these babies have presented more to early intervention and local primary care services and require SLT input as they grow up.

In line with increasing fluidity and integration between services and ongoing projects such as Progressing Disability (Report of Reference Group on Multidisciplinary Services for Children aged 5 to 18 Years, HSE, 2009) as well as a growing knowledge base amongst professionals of the needs of this particular service user group, these babies go on to become involved in a range of services (voluntary, community) and clinical settings. These services have been developing in more recent years and SLTs are an integral part of the team, accepting referrals outside the acute setting from a very early stage.

Since 2013, there have been a number of advances and developments in working with this population and this document needs to reflect this. As part of the process of reviewing these guidelines, the profession was surveyed to determine what areas of the document needed attention/development.

In October 2018, the IASLT Professional Development Manager circulated the survey to all members via standard email lists. It was also shared on all IASLT social media outlets including Facebook and Twitter. Members were also asked to forward it on to colleagues who may not have access to the above media. Reminders were sent 2 weeks after initial circulation.

There were 59 respondents to the survey from a variety of work settings including Acute Paediatric hospital (20.34%), Early Intervention (18.64%), Primary Care (16.95%), Voluntary Body Intellectual Disability (13.56%), Adult Acute Hospital (8.47%), Voluntary Body physical and sensory disability (6.78%), Community setting (5.08%) and School Age setting (3.39%). The majority of respondents were Senior SLTs, qualified 5-10+ years (57.63%). 23.73% were qualified less than 5 years, 8.47% were specialist grade and 8.47% were managers.

Almost 70% of the respondents reported that they had previously consulted the IASLT 2013 Document. Reasons for consulting the document included to support learning (32.08%), Assist with developing skills and knowledge (11.32%), to facilitate current (11.32%) and new (9.43%) IRISH ASSOCIATION OF SPEECH & LANGUAGE THERAPISTS

service development, and to support or supervise a colleague developing skills (24.53%). The majority (75.47%) of these reported that the document was helpful to them.

Finally, respondents were asked what they would like to see included in the revised document. A number of themes were identified;

- Working in a non-hospital setting including disability, primary care and progressing disability settings: SLT roles, multidisciplinary team liaison, medical support in these settings and interface with acute services
- 2. An up-to-date evidence base for assessment and intervention
- 3. Competencies and skill levels to be revised, including caution in use of the term 'advanced'
- 4. Risk management
- 5. Ethical issues
- 6. Aversive feeders
- 7. Tube weaning guidelines
- 8. Onward referral criteria
- 9. Prognostic indicators
- 10. Discharge criteria

In 2019 an international expert group proposed for the first time a unifying diagnostic term "Paediatric Feeding Disorder' (PFD) in a consensus statement, in line with the framework of the WHO International Classification of Functioning, Disability, and Health. This group proposed clear diagnostic criteria and the use of common, precise terminology to support clinical practice, research and healthcare policy (Goday, Huh, Silverman et al 2019). They defined PFD as impaired oral intake that is not age-appropriate, and is associated with medical, nutritional, feeding skill, and/or psychosocial dysfunction. As discussions about this proposed framework evolve over the coming months and years it will allow Irish SLTs to shape terminology and frame services in a clearer and more focused manner.

With these themes and issues in mind, the committee have revised this document to reflect the changing needs of our clients and their families, the changing face of SLT service delivery and the changes in medical and clinical practice that are changing how we manage and intervene in the child with a FEDS disorder.

Who is this document for?

This document is intended for consultation by:

- Speech and Language Therapists (SLTs)
- Managers/service providers to help establish baselines for practice and assist skill development in teams and to justify funding and development of services.
- > Supervisors and Mentors for SLTs acquiring skills in this clinical area.
- > SLTs new to working with this population.
- Undergraduate students as a source of information
- > Other groups such as service users and other members of the multidisciplinary team

Who is this document about?

The intended client group is babies from 0-24 months corrected age (i.e., actual age in weeks minus number of weeks premature) of which there will be the following subgroups:

Table 1: Babies Subgroups

Group	Definition	
a) Premature Infants	Defined by the WHO (2012) as babies born alive before	
	37 weeks of pregnancy are completed. Subcategories of	
	preterm birth are based on weeks of gestational age as	
	follows;	
	Extremely preterm (<28 weeks)	
	Very preterm (28 to < 32 weeks)	
	 Moderate to late preterm (32 to < 37 weeks) 	
b) Neonates	The neonatal period commences at birth and ends 28	
	completed days after birth. (WHO 2012)	
c) Babies	From 29 days - 24 months	

It must be borne in mind that babies will acquire feeding, eating, drinking and swallowing skills along a recognised developmental continuum at different ages/stages and times. For the purposes of this document the term 'baby' will be used to represent the above subgroups.

Acknowledgements

IASLT would like to thank the following for their contribution to this updated position paper;

- Members of the previous working group for original document
- Members of the working group for Standards of Practice for Speech and Language Therapists on the Management of Feeding, Eating, Drinking and Swallowing Disorders
- IASLT Professional Development Manager for circulating the survey and reviewing the document at its various stages.
- Speech and language therapists who completed the survey and gave feedback to the group.
- American Speech, Hearing, Language, Association (ASHA)
- Speech Pathology Australia (SPA)
- Royal College of Speech and Language Therapists (RCSLT)
- New Zealand Speech-Language Therapists' Association Inc. (NZSTA)

Contents

Background to this document	2
Who is this document for?	5
Who is this document about?	5
Acknowledgements	6
1.0 Definitions/Terms	9
2.0 Impact of Feeding, Eating, Drinking and Swallowing Disc	
Babies	13
2.1 Incidence and Prevalence in Paediatrics	13
3.0 Education and Training	14
3.1 Theoretical Knowledge Base for SLTs working with FEDs in Neo	
3.2 Communication with Key personnel / specialists / advisors	
4.0 Role of Speech and Language Therapist in Hospital and	Community
Settings (ASHA 2002 & ASHA 2005)	
4.0.1 Hospital Settings	17
4.0.1a Neonatal Intensive Care Unit (NICU)	
4.0.1b Non-NICU settings	
4.0.2 Community settings	
4.1 Assessment, Diagnosis & Management of FEDS in Neonates and	
4.1.1 Assessment of Infants	19
4.1.2 Assessment Tools	22
4.2 Legal & Ethical obligations (IASLT 2006, 2012)	26
4.3 Education and training of other groups	26
4.4 Risk management	26
4.5 Discharge/transition and follow up care	
4.6 Research	

5.0 Treatment of FEDS Disorders in Neonates and Babies	27
References	2833
List of Association Documents and Position Papers (cited in this document) IASLT Feeding, Eating, Drinking and Swallowing Disorders: Working with Neoland Babies Working Group	nates
Appendices	53
Appendix 1	54
Appendix 2	56
List of Tables	
Table 1: Babies subgroupings	3
Table 2: Theoretical Knowledge base for SLTs working with FEDS Disoretical Knowledge base for SLTs wor	rders in
Neonates and Babies	17
Table 3: Knowledge and skills specific to FEDS Assessment in Neonates and E	
Table 4: Basic Knowledge and skills required for working with neonates and	
with a tracheostomy	
Table 5: Knowledge and skills specific to FEDS Management in Neonates and	
	22

1.0 Definitions/Terms

Speech and Language Therapist (SLT): For the purposes of this document a Speech and

Language Therapist is a person who holds a professional qualification in SLT and who is eligible

for membership of the Irish Association of Speech and Language Therapists

For the purpose of this document the following subgroups will be referenced;

Premature infants: Defined by the WHO (2012) as babies born alive before 37

weeks of pregnancy are completed.

Neonates: The neonatal period commences at birth and ends 28 completed days

after birth

Baby: From 29 days – 24 months

Aspiration: Passage of any material (e.g., food, liquid, saliva) below the level of the true vocal

folds into the trachea

Chronic lung disease: Persisting respiratory problems.

Clinical Assessment of FEDS: The process by which the SLT aims to identify presence

and nature of a FEDS disorder based on clinical signs.

Failure to thrive: Describes infants and young children who fail to grow as expected on the

basis of established growth standards for age and gender (Arvedson 2002)

Faltering growth: used to refer to a slower rate of weight gain in childhood than expected

for age and sex.

Feeding, Eating, Drinking and Swallowing (FEDS): Refers to the total process of

feeding, eating, drinking and swallowing. When a single aspect of the swallowing process needs

to be identified then the appropriate term will be employed e.g., feeding (RCSLT 2006)

Fibreoptic Endoscopic Evaluation of Swallowing (FEES): This involves the transnasal

insertion of a fibreoptic nasendoscope to the level of the oropharynx/hypopharynx to evaluate

laryngopharyngeal anatomy and physiology as it relates to the management of secretions and

the ability to swallow food and fluids. Images are recorded (IASLT 2012)

Gastroesophageal reflux: Spontaneous regurgitation of stomach contents upwards into

the oesophagus

Intubation: The placement of a flexible plastic tube into the trachea to maintain an

open airway

Neurodevelopmental assessment: This is an assessment which periodically evaluates the

infant's primitive reflexes, gross motor, fine motor, vision, hearing, speech, cognition and

behaviour. Several standardised assessments exist (Dietrich 2005).

NICU: Neonatal Intensive Care Unit

Non-nutritive sucking: Is used for state regulation, calming and organisation; to satisfy the

desire to suck; and in exploration. This type of sucking is organised in patterns of bursts and

pauses.

Nutritive sucking: Is used to obtain nourishment and is observed when the infant is breast-

feeding or bottle-feeding (Morris & Klein)

Oral hygiene: the practice of keeping the mouth clean and healthy by brushing and flossing

to prevent tooth decay and gum disease.

Oral sensorimotor aversion: Sensory based feeding disorder (Brodsky 2008)

Oral stimulation: a structured intervention programme focused on stroking of perioral

and intraoral structures in a specific way with a gloved finger for a specified time before

feeding, to enhance sucking skills and efficiency during feeding.

Oropharynx: The posterior extension of the oral cavity. The oropharynx begins at the

posterior surface of the anterior pillars and extends to the posterior pharyngeal walls.

Perinatal development: The perinatal period (from Greek peri, "about, around" and Latin

nasci "to be born") is "around the time of birth", specifically from 22 completed weeks (154

days) of gestation (the time when birth weight is normally 500 g) to 7 completed days after

birth (WHO 2001)

Pre-natal development: Prenatal or antenatal development is the process in which a human

embryo or fetus (or foetus) gestates during pregnancy, from fertilization until birth

Quality of life: WHO defines Quality of Life as an individual's perception of their position in

life in the context of the culture and value systems in which they live and in relation to their

goals, expectations, standards and concerns. It is a broad ranging concept affected in a complex

way by the person's physical health, psychological state, level of independence, social

relationships, personal beliefs and their relationship to salient features of their environment

(WHO 1997)

SCBU: Special Care Baby Unit

Sensory aversions: In infants or children where the neural/brain processing of sensory

information e.g. visual/auditory/tactile/kinaesthetic or proprioceptive experiences is disrupted,

they may find exposure to these types of stimuli distressing and therefore become aversive to

the stimuli and avoid exposure to them or develop distressing behaviours if exposure occurs.

Silent Aspiration: is said to occur when a child aspirates in the absence of signs or

symptoms, noticeably a cough (Winstock 2005)

Suck swallow Breathe (SSB): The development of precise coordination of sucking,

swallowing and breathing is essential for safe and efficient feeding in infants. When good

feeding is established infants will suck & swallow & breathe in a coordinated rhythmic manner

at a ratio of approximately 1:1:1 for nutritive sucking.

Tongue tie: a malformation which restricts the movement of the tongue and causes a speech

impediment.

Tracheostomy: A surgical procedure to create an incision into the trachea (windpipe) that

forms a temporary or permanent opening to assist with breathing if respiration is significantly

compromised

Upper aerodigestive tract: Consists of the hypopharynx, oral cavity and larynx.

11

Ventilator dependent: A situation where an infant's breathing is significantly compromised and requires the assistance of a mechanical respiratory support.

Videofluoroscopic Swallow Study (VFSS): This is the radiological procedure designed to study the anatomy and the physiology of the oral preparatory, pharyngeal, and cervical stages of deglutition and to define treatment and management strategies that will improve the individual's swallowing safety and/or efficiency. A range of food and fluid textures are administered during the procedure. Images are recorded (IASLT 2012)

2.0 Impact of Feeding, Eating, Drinking and **Swallowing Disorders in Babies**

FEDS disorders in babies may increase the risk of the following;

Longer transitions from tube feeding to oral feeding (Bingham et al 2012)

- Longer hospital stays and associated additional costs (ASHA 2001; Arvedson 2002; Rommel et al. 2011, Lau 2016, Eichenwald et al. 2001, Greene et al. 2016
- Respiratory compromise/apnoeas (ASHA 2004, Barlow et al. 2010, Jadcheria 2017)
- Faltering growth (Samara et al. 2010, Sanchez et al. 2016)
- Anxiety/stress (ASHA 2001, Cichero 2006, Faugli et al. 2009, Goday et al. 2019)
- Persistent unresolved feeding difficulties in late infancy (Mathisen et al. 2000, Buswell et al. 2009, Goday et al. 2019, Sanchez et al. 2016, Samara et al. 2010)
- Oral sensorimotor aversions (Arvedson 2002, Morris & Klein 2000, Brodsky et al.
- Feeding tube dependency (Dunitz-Scheer et al. 2009)

2.1 Incidence and Prevalence in Paediatrics

Premature Infants	15% to 21% (Wicke et al. 2014)
Cardiac conditions	22%-44.6% (Kogon et al 2007; Mussatto et
	al 2014; Maurer et al 2011; McKEan et al
	2017; Shine et al 2019)
Cerebral Palsy	Incidence varies from 31% to 99% (RCSLT
	2018)
Neurodevelopmental disabilities	21% to 44% (RCSLT 2018)
Children with acquired conditions during	68% to 72% (RCSLT 2018)
acute phases of care	
Typically developing paediatric population	25% to 45% (RCSLT 2018)

3.0 Education and Training

Training in dysphagia begins at University level during the Speech and Language Therapy programme with a transition to independent practice being achieved under supervision postgraduation working with dysphagia clinical caseload. Speech and Language Therapy programmes in the Republic of Ireland have included FEDS training since 2010.

SLTs working with neonates and babies with FEDS disorders are encouraged to consult the IASLT Standards of Practice for SLTS on the Management of Dysphagia, 2012 (revised version expected 2021) closely to assist their skills development in order to both;

- (a) Establish and consolidate basic skills and
- (b) Progress from basic practitioners to intermediate and advanced practitioners as necessary.

3.1 Theoretical Knowledge Base for SLTs working with FEDs in Neonates and Babies

(Please read in conjunction with 'Standards of Practice for Speech and Language Therapists on the Management of Dysphagia', IASLT 2012 (revised version expected 2021))

It is recognised that since 2010 Speech and Language Therapists who have graduated from the four universities in Ireland will be competent at a basic level to assess, diagnose and provide intervention for service users with FEDS disorders as part of their clinical caseloads (IASLT 2012).

However, it is felt additional knowledge and skills are required in order to manage this specialised population (neonates and babies). SLTs are ethically responsible for attaining and maintaining their competency levels for this client group. Additional skills can be attained by attending courses, clinical supervision, and mentoring. They must recognise their own limitations and the need for onward referral if the case is beyond their scope of practice.

SLTs working with FEDS Disorders in Neonates and Babies should have Theoretical Knowledge of;

- o Age terminology during the Perinatal Period (American Academy of Paediatrics
- O Normal embryology, perinatal, and post-natal infant development including an understanding of current research in neurobiology, physiology, and genetics as they relate to infant behaviour (ASHA 2004)
- O Anatomic structures, physiology, behaviour and neurodevelopment in preterm and term infants (ASHA 2004))
- Nutritive and Non Nutritive Sucking Patterns (NNS) and the maturation of suck, swallow, breath (SSB) (Amaziau et al 2008; Bingham et al 2009; Gewolb et al 2001; RCSLT 2003; Kennedy, 2005)
- o The significance and implications of disruptions in expected development and function considering risk factors in prenatal and peri-natal development, aetiologies and medical conditions (ASHA 2004).
- o Breastfeeding and breastmilk feeding and how the SLT may support both of these (Unicef/WHO 2009, Dodrill 2016c, WHO 2017, Kim et al 2018, Fucile et al 2018, Karimi et al 2019)
- Current thinking on tongue tie, how it may impact on feeding and appropriate assessment and management protocols on a case by case basis (HSE 2016, O'Shea et al 2017, Watson Genna 2017)
- The rationale for use of feeding tubes, their impact on oral feeding, risk of development of tube dependency and awareness of how to transition from tube feeding to oral feeding.
- O Clinically significant signs related to dysphagia status (e.g. overt/ silent aspiration) (RCSLT 2003).
- o The impact of intubation, oral or tracheal, on successful feeding development (Chappel 2012).
- o Effects of handling, postural alignment and motor control on the infant's ability to regulate the enteric (GI, autonomic) nervous systems (Chappel 2012; Kennedy 2005).
- o Knowledge of infants' communicative behavioural cues (Kennedy 2005; Settle and Francis, 2019).
- o Effects of chronic lung disease and gastro-oesophageal reflux (Kennedy 2005; Bhatia & Parish 2009).
- o Environmental influences on feeding e.g. positioning, medication, co-existing health concerns, feeding method, social and cultural (Morris & Klein 2000; Wolf & Glass 1992).
- o Family centred practices including the impact of the NICU experience on family dynamics and function (ASHA 2004, RCSLT 2003). Understanding of the working systems, policies and staffing within the NICU/ SCBU or relevant service.
- Interventions for oral skills and use of utensils (Pados et al. 2019; Greene et al.
- o How to provide documentation and contribute to team-based decision- making.

3.2 Communication with Key personnel / specialists / advisors

All SLTs must work within their scope of practice and within their competency range. It is the responsibility of the SLT to identify what skill level they have achieved and if they need to consider assessment of intervention beyond this, they should seek to develop skills by establishing links with local SLTs (where possible) with FEDS experience. Close liaison and links should be established between National and Regional hospital services and local settings.

This liaison may occur in a number of ways for example shared care between services, second opinion for assessment or intervention, or case discussions or support.

SLTs who have skills and who are involved in mentoring or supervising a colleague should be able to direct their colleague to further reading or resources in order to develop skills and knowledge and competency.

The following appendices should provide useful supports to SLTs working at all levels.

- Appendix I provides a list of core reading material for SLTs working with neonates and babies with FEDS disorders.
- Appendix 2 provides details on Special Interest Groups and social media sites.

4.0 Role of Speech and Language Therapist in Hospital and Community Settings (ASHA 2002 & ASHA 2005)

4.0.1 Hospital Settings

4.0.1a Neonatal Intensive Care Unit (NICU)

SLTs working in a Neonatal Intensive Care (NICU), have a unique opportunity to impact the lives of the most vulnerable of patients. With expertise in feeding/eating/drinking/swallowing (FEDS), SLTs offer clinical input as to when an infant is ready to start oral feeding as well as when an infant is ready for an exposure to an oral opportunity.

Through education to parents in the very early days of the infants' journey in the NICU, SLTs can assist parents to read and recognize the most basic of communication from their babies. The SLT can build upon the parent's abilities to recognize basic cues given by their baby and then gradually sharpen their observation skills as new challenges are presented to their infant (Shaker, 2013). This enables parents to identify the motor, behavioural and physiological responses/ communication being given by their infant, particularly while feeding. Parents often report feeling very positive about actively adding to the quality of care to their infants, which in turn fosters a stronger parent-infant bond and improved mental health outcomes for the parent and baby (Shaker, 2013; Shaker, 2018; Aloysius, et al, 2017).

With each there is an opportunity to educate parents and other members of the multi-disciplinary team (MDT) about SLT assessment protocols, results and the relevance of our findings as it impacts the infant. Ideally, participation from the parents and other key team members is encouraged when devising feeding guidelines. Best practice supports working in collaboration with the NICU team and providing a family-centred approach as much as possible, while always being sensitive to cultural diversity.

Additional responsibilities include: I) developing evidence-based policies and procedures within the NICU that support feeding practices to fragile infants and their parents 2) contributing to the body of neonatal research. IRISH ASSOCIATION OF SPEECH & LANGUAGE THERAPISTS

4.0.1b Non-NICU settings

SLT has a role in delivering assessment and intervention for babies with feeding difficulties

within the multi-disciplinary team in non-NICU settings. The SLT delivers similar services to

these babies as is delivered to children within NICU settings. Babies in non-NICU wards can

present with both complex and non-complex feeding needs.

4.0.2 Community settings

SLTs in community settings may benefit from formal/informal support from colleagues in acute

setting in relation to complex cases. Shared care or transitional care from acute to community

settings should be a primary aim.

SLTs may play a key role in MDT feeding assessments and clinics in a community setting.

Long term monitoring of feeding skills or feeding therapy input may be best placed in home,

school or clinic environments rather than acute hospital settings; community SLTs have a key

role to place in this e.g., in aversive feeding issues.

Community based SLT can provide important FEDs input for children with life limiting

conditions to support FEDs needs as a condition may progress. Liaison may be required with

primary medical teams and CNS for life limiting conditions.

SLTs play a vital role in implementation of FEDs guidelines and strategies following objective

assessments such as videofluoroscopy.

Community based SLTs are uniquely placed to play a key role in support, liaison with hospitals,

schools and MDT colleagues, families and support services.

4.1 Assessment, Diagnosis & Management of FEDS in Neonates and Babies

Should encompass:

- Conducting clinical assessment of the baby and family for FEDS disorders, including neuro-developmental assessments.
- Conducting, interpreting and reporting on comprehensive instrumental evaluation of the infant for feeding and swallowing problems that delineate structures and dynamic functions of feeding, eating, drinking and swallowing.
- Identifying normal and abnormal swallowing anatomy and physiology and identifying underlying dysfunction in order to assist diagnosis.
- Provide support and intervention/treatment for the infant's FEDS disorders (evidence-based when available).
- Remediating the presenting difficulties by devising comprehensive care plans.
- Identifying and trailing interventions to remediate or compensate for the presenting difficulties.
- Documenting progress by monitoring and modifying intervention goals as indicated
- Collaborating with other team members in identifying the need for additional assessments and consultations.
- Identifying suspected additional disorders in the upper aerodigestive tract and making appropriate onward referrals.

4.1.1 Assessment of Infants

(these babies may be seen in either acute care or non-acute care settings)

- A. Non-Complex Infants (Ross, ES & Philbin, MK, 2011; Shaker, 2013) (ASHA 2002 & ASHA 2005)
- Gather relevant information including medical background, current medical and feeding status of the baby, and psychosocial and cultural aspects of the family.
- 2) Assessment: Read, interpret and respond to infants' behavioural cues:
 - a) Before the feed:

- Assess the ability to maintain physiological stability (breathing rate, heart rate, oxygen starvation)
- ii) Recognize readiness cues such as alertness, rooting, crying for a feed.
- iii) Evaluation of oro-motor structures/reflexes
- iv) Identify the maturity of the non-nutritive sucking (NNS) on a soother.
- b) During and after the feed:
 - i) Assess the maturity of nutritive sucking (NS)
 - ii) Observe oral feeding and swallowing behaviours.
 - iii) Note changes in the:
 - (I) Autonomic system (breathing rate, heart rate, oxygen saturation)
 - (2) Motor/movement (postural alignment, muscle tone)
 - (3) State: ability to remain alert and engage actively in feeding; focusing on environmental stimuli)
 - (4) Identify any signs/symptoms of aspiration or other sensory observations.
- 3) Recognise and interpret additional problems that may affect infant feeding and swallowing such as: positioning, teat flow, need for external pacing, adverse environmental factors, need for objective assessment or referral onwards as appropriate.
 - B. Medically Complex Infants (Shaker, 2013; Jones, 2014; Gennattasio et al, 2015; Ross & Philbin, 2011; ASHA 2002 & ASHA 2005; Dalgleish, S et al. 2015)

Determining readiness to feed is usually determined by the medical team and midwives (Crowe, Chang et al. 2017) however Speech and Language Therapists also have a role in this process. One of the most significant changes in the approach to initiating infant oral feeding in the Neonatal Intensive Care Unit has been a move away from using gestational age as a primary indicator, instead focusing on individualized assessment of infant's readiness cues.

 Once an infant has demonstrated an ability to tolerate touch, movement, being held through maintaining his/her behavioural state/physiological stability/motor state, then readiness to begin oral feeding needs to be determined.

- 2. For each feed thereafter, the infant's cues should be considered to ascertain readiness for a feeding event.
- 3. A feeding event should proceed or discontinue based on the infant's cues of participation, comfort, stability, signs of tolerance. Working together with medical teams/midwives/parents to determine an agreed plan is most important to assure consistency, which will also minimize risk.
- 4. Evaluating the outcome of each session will inform you whether modification for feeding events (or therapeutic tastes) needs to be modified.
- 5. Evaluating the infant's trends over several days can offer an overall picture, such as whether or not oxygen requirements have increased, decreased or maintained; frequency of feeding events provided, etc.

Infants on CPAP and high flow oxygen support can be offered experiences with which to build positive feeding opportunities. Protocols for feeding fragile infants in these situations are evolving and SLTs should be familiar with the most up to date practices internationally. (Canning et al 2020, Glackin et al 2017; Shetty et al 2016; Dalgleish et al, 2015)

4.1.2 Assessment Tools

Assessments for Pre-Feeding Skills		
Neonatal Eating Outcome Assessment Tool -NeoEAT Pineda, Harris, Foci, Roussin and Wallendorf (2017) Pados, Estrem, Thoyre et al. 2017	Abbreviated version (first section) appropriate for infants after the age of 30 weeks PMA, to obtain a pre-feeding score	
Non-nutritive sucking scoring system for preterm newborns –NNS Neiva, Leone & Leone (2008) Bickell, Barton et al. 2018. Gennattasio, Perri et al. 2015, p.101	 Non-nutritive sucking in preterm infants impacts infant state, reduces defensive behaviours and affects overall feeding performance. Adequate inter-rater reliability and construct validity 	
Premature Oral Feeding Readiness Assessment Scale – POFRAS Fujinaga, Alves de Moraes et al. Gennattasio, Perri et al. 2015 Crowe, Change, Wallace, 2017.	 18-item scale Considered easy to administer Assesses maturity, oral-motor skills, oral-motor, neural and sucking development. Design based on a 'pass' or 'fail' outcome Considered to be a valid assessment for readiness for preterm infants to start breast feeding based on a study based with 60 preterm infants. 	

Assessment for Infant Oral Motor Skills

Schedule for Oral-Motor Assessment-• Assessment of oral motor function in **SOMA** babies aged 8-24 month. Reilly, Skuse, Stevenson, & Mathisen • Abbreviated version available for the (1995)purpose of screening babies Heckathorn, Speyer et al, 2015. Psychometrics show tool is valid and offers Skuse, Stevenson et al 1995. positive predictive validity. Ko, Kang et al, 2011.



Assessments for Bottle Feeding Skills

Early Feeding Skills- EFS Thoyre, Shaker, & Pridham (2005)

Bickell, Barton et al. 2018. Gennattasio et al. 2015. Bahrami, Marofi, Farajzadegan, Behzad, 2019 Pados, Estrem, 2016

- Can be used with babies up to 52 weeks post-menstrual age (PMA)
- A 36-item assessment, which is recommended for babies with more complex feeding behaviours.
- Has acceptable inter-rater and intra-rater reliability and validity.
- Copies available on request: www.feedingflock.com

Neonatal Oral Motor Assessment Scale-NOMAS Marjorie Meyers Palmer (1983)

Longoni et al 2018. Bickell, Barton et al, 2018. Zarem et al. 2013. Gennattasio et al, 2015. Heckathorn, Speyer, et al, 2015 Pados, Estrem 2016 Crapnell, Rogers et al, 2013

- Can be used with pre-term and term infants up to the age of 48 weeks postmenstrual age.
- Requires certificate training (3 days)
- Good inter-rater reliability
- Predictive validity not supported for outcomes at 2 years of age for infants categorized with disorganized or dysfunctional sucking patterns.

Predictive validity not supported for age at which an infant will establish oral feeds or transition off tube feeds to oral feeds.

Feeding and Swallowing Scale for Premature Infants-FSSPI

Moon, Jung, Cheon, Oh, Ki and Kwon (2017)

- For use with pre-term and term babies under the age of 3 months corrected.
- Offers assessment and structure for developing intervention to support the preterm infants' skills for FEDS.

Neonatal Eating Outcome Assessment Tool -NeoEAT

Pineda, Harris, Foci, Roussin and Wallendorf (2017)

Pados, Estrem, Thoyre et al, 2017

- Full assessment (4 sections) appropriate for infants from 30-32 PMA to 4-6 weeks post term, whether feeding already initiated or not.
- Abbreviated version (first section) appropriate for infants after the age of 30 weeks PMA, to obtain a pre-feeding score.
- Can be used for infants that are breast or bottle fed.
- Four sections assess: feeding readiness, safety, success with feeding and complex behaviours/coordination.
- Research to date indicates content validity and good-excellent inter-rater reliability.
- Has not been assessed to offer predictive validity for long-term outcomes.
- The tool is continuing to undergo continuous improvements.



Assessments for Breast Feeding Skills

Early Feeding Skills-EFS Thoyre, Shaker, & Pridham, 2005

Bickell, Barton et al, 2018; Gennattasio et al, 2015; Heckathorn et al, 2015; Bahrami, Marofi, Farajzadegan, Behzad, 2019. Pados, Estrem, 2016

- Can be used with babies up to 52 weeks post- menstrual age (PMA)
 - · A 36-item assessment, which is recommended for babies with more complex feeding behaviours.
 - Has acceptable inter-rater and intra-rater Reliability and validity
 - Copies available on request: www.feedingflock.com

Neonatal Oral Motor Assessment Scale-NOMAS

Marjorie Meyers Palmer (1983) Bickell, Barton et al, 2018; Zarem, Kidokoro et al. 2013: Gennattasio et al. 2015; Zang, Zhou et al, 2017. Pados, Estrem, 2016

- Can be used with pre-term and term infants up to the age of 48 weeks post-menstrual age.
 - Good inter-rater reliability
 - Requires certificate training (3 days)
 - Predictive validity not supported for outcomes at 2 years of age for infants categorized with disorganized or dysfunctional sucking patterns •Predictive validity not supported for age at which an infant will establish oral feeds or transition off tube feeds to oral feeds.

Neonatal eating outcome Assessment Tool - NeoEAT Pineda, Harris, Foci, Roussin and Wallendorf (2017)

- Full assessment (4 sections) appropriate for infants from 30-32 PMA to 4-6 weeks post term, whether feeding already initiated or not.
- Abbreviated version (first section) appropriate for infants after the age of 30 weeks PMA, to obtain a pre-feeding
 - Can be used for infants that are breast or bottle fed.
- Four sections assess: feeding readiness, safety, success with feeding and complex behaviours/coordination.
 - Research to date indicates content validity and goodexcellent inter-rater reliability.
- Has not been assessed to offer predictive validity for longterm outcomes.
 - The tool is continuing to undergo continuous improvements.

Bristol Breastfeeding Assessment Tool-BBAT

Ingram, Johnson, Copeland, Churchill, Taylor (2015)

Bickell, Barton, et al, 2018 Pados, Estem. 2016.

- Use for term infants regardless of age.
- Very brief tool, consisting of 4 items.
- Developed to capture changes in feeding related to tongue-tie release.
- Recommended for the healthy, term infant.
- Evidence for content validity; acceptable inter-rater reliability; acceptable internal consistency reliability



Pre-term Infant Breast-feeding Behaviour Scale-PIBBS Nyqvist, Rubertsson, Ewald, Sjoden (1996)

Heckathorn et al, 2015 Nyqvist, Rubertsson, et al, 1996

- Describes 'maturation steps' with breastfeeding; differentiating behaviours for infants between different gestational ages.
- Appropriate to use with infants < 33 weeks gestations age to full term.

Systematic Assessment of the Infant at Breast-SAIB Shrago & Bocar (1990)

Bickell, Barton, et al, 2018 Heckathorn et al. 2015

- This is a breast-feeding check list.
- Assists in early identification of breast-feeding difficulties.
- Results can be used for teaching mothers and offering intervention.
- For use with new-borns: age of infant not specified.

Assessment can be both a detailed and complex procedure. It involves detailed information gathering, close liaison and discussion with medical professionals, clinical assessment of the baby, and often instrumental assessment also. Assessment will need to be tailored accordingly for different client groups reflecting those populations who require more specialized levels of skills and assessment, including the neonatal population, preterm babies and tracheostomised and/or ventilated babies.

SLTS routinely conducting instrumental assessments should be familiar with standard operating procedures recommended by IASLT/ASHA/RCSLT.

Tracheostomy and Ventilator Dependent Babies

Babies who have a tracheostomy and who may/may not be ventilator dependent are a subgroup requiring specific knowledge and liaison with an experienced SLT is recommended. In December 2017, IASLT published clinical guidelines in tracheostomy management for SLTs. Working with paediatrics was incorporated into that document. All SLTs working with children with tracheostomy should consult these guidelines (IASLT, 2017).

Instrumental assessment such as a Videofluoroscopy Swallow Study (VFSS) may be indicated.

A VFSS is a gold standard assessment carried out by a speech pathologist in consultation with a radiologist to determine swallow function, level of aspiration risk and intervention planning. VFSS is currently the most commonly available instrumental assessment available in paediatrics in Ireland.



Although it is not recommended as the sole diagnostic procedure, a VFSS can provide information regarding:

- Aetiologies and symptoms of dysphagia, including risk of aspiration.
- Anatomy and physiology of the swallowing mechanism
- The need for specific texture modification of oral intake (food and/or fluid)
- The effectiveness of compensatory strategies

The application of FEES (Fibreoptic Endoscopic Evaluation of Swallowing) has been described in both neonatal and paediatric populations with a recent review looking at feasibility and safety as well as clinical utility of this instrumental assessment technique (Miller & Willging 2020). Issues remain around training and skills and competencies and close cooperation with an experienced paediatric otolaryngologist is required in order to progress with emerging service developments in this area. (NZSTA 2018; RCSLT 2020)

4.2 Legal & Ethical obligations (IASLT 2006, 2012)

- Collaborating with the family and other team members regarding management decisions for care of the baby and family.
- Advocating for services for babies with FEDS disorders and their families.

4.3 Education and training of other groups

- Providing education, counseling, and support to families, other caregivers and staff regarding preferred practices in the relevant setting to support current and future FEDS skills.
- Educating and supervising SLTs at undergraduate or postgraduate levels.
- Educating other professional colleagues.
- Providing public education and advocacy for serving babies and families in a range of settings.

4.4 Risk management

- Identifying babies at risk for and those with existing developmental FEDS disorders.
- Maintaining quality control/risk management programs.
 IRISH ASSOCIATION OF SPEECH & LANGUAGE THERAPISTS

4.5 Discharge/transition and follow up care.

- Providing discharge/transition planning and follow-up care.
- Determining appropriate discharge criteria in the context of current best practice guidelines and evidence base.

4.6 Research

- Conducting clinically based research to continually update knowledge base and skills, to enable the SLT to provide a continuum of services for babies and families in a range of settings.
- Conducting basic and clinical research in foetal and neonatal development, function and effectiveness of treatments.
- Advancing the knowledge base on normal swallowing and FEDS disorders through research activities by developing and testing hypotheses.

5.0 Treatment of FEDS Disorders in Neonates and Babies

A recent systematic review of feeding interventions in paediatrics (Gosa et al 2017) highlighted that despite insufficient quantity of evidence to determine the effects of oral motor, sensory, and pharmaceutical therapies on functional feeding outcomes in paediatric populations, there is larger body of phase I evidence that establishes the efficacy of behavioral strategies to treat some swallowing and feeding difficulties in small cohort and single subject studies. The review concluded that there were limited high quality (phase 4) research articles that establish the efficacy and benefit of joint nutrition and behavior intervention programs and systematic desensitization and operant conditioning behavioral therapy approaches to improve functional feeding and swallowing outcomes in children. There are RCTs in the neonatal literature looking specifically at oral stimulation protocols (Greene 2016, Arora 2018, Fucile 2018) and swallowing stimulation protocols (Lau et al 2012, Rodriguez et al 2015) and their impact on feeding. Many of these may also be applicable to an older cohort of infants who are at a similar developmental stage and SLTs are encouraged to look beyond 'age' when designing interventions programmes for their patients.

Table 5: Knowledge and skills specific to FEDS Management in Neonates and Babies

A Therapist working with this group should have knowledge of

Infant anatomy, physiology and neurology for both normal feeding and oropharyngeal swallowing development, and where this development may differ.

Als 1986, Wolf & Glass 1992, Brazelton 1995, Gewolb et al 2006, Hawdon et al 2000, Miller 2002, Carnaby 2012, Dodrill 2016a, Sanchez et al 2016, Harding et al 2018 a, b

A Therapist working with this group would be expected to be able to implement the following during treatment;

Identify and understand how underlying anatomic, physiological, neurological and systemic issues impact on the infant.

Use that information to structure and implement an appropriate feeding management plan, comprising both direct and compensatory interventions in conjunction with the MDT.

Impact and management of co-morbid medical conditions, including environmental influences.

Morris & Klein 2000; Wolf & Glass 1992; McCurtin 1997; Dietrich et al 2005, Jadcherla et al 2016, Moore et al 2012 (Epicure) Eichenwald et al 2001, Edwards et al 2012, Caskey et al 2014, Sajjadian et al 2017, Edwards & Austin 2016, Dodrill 2016b, Hirst et al 2017, Zimmerman et al 2018

Models of infant driven feeding and cuebased feeding

McCain et al 2001; 2002, White-Traut et al 2005, Kirk et al 2007, Thoyre et al 2013, Ross et al 2011, Kish 2013, Wellington & Perlman 2015, Chrupcala et al 2015, Dodrill 2016c, Osman 2019

Normal and abnormal patterns of movement and how to facilitate postural stability.

(Morris & Klein 2000; Arvedson & Rogers 1997; McCurtin 1997, Winstock 2005; Clark et al., 2007, Thoyre et al 2012, Dodrill 2016c)

Primitive reflexes, stages of suck pattern development and feeding skill development.

(Bragelien et al 2007; Fucile et al 2012, 2011, 2005, 2002; Harding 2015; Wolf & Glass 1992; Lau 2006; Clark et al 2007; Collins 2004, Pickler et al 2006, Lau & Smith 2011, Dodrill 2016a, c)

Understand the impact of

- NICU/infant ward/other environments
- co-morbid illnesses
- medications
- mechanical medical interventions
- noise level, lighting, room temperature.
- cultural and social influences

on the infant both in terms of feeding and swallowing and communication

The SLT should understand that these factors may dictate the course of intervention chosen, and when interventions are likely to be helpful or not at a particular time.

The SLT should recognise appropriate timing of interventions as an infants' underlying condition evolves which may impact positively or negatively on neurological, physical, cognitive, developmental, oral motor, behavioural and feeding status.

Liaise with the MDT to provide the infant with opportunities where possible to support the infant's own drive for oral feeding e.g.

- Feeding infant on demand, allowing infant to wake for tube feeds.
- Reducing/rescheduling tube feeds to promote hunger.
- Understanding infant signs of readiness to feed
- Understanding infant signs of distress and knowing when to stop feeding the infant.
- Know how to support an infant to regulate themselves

Liaise with the MDT to support infants with difficulties in

- postural alignment (hyperflexed, extended),
- muscle tone (hypotonic, hypertonic or mixed),
- movement patterns in extremities, trunk, head and face, and level of motor activity.

Use compensatory postures and/or supportive positioning (e.g., providing swaddling, placing in a side lying or upright positions, chin tuck) or supportive seating to achieve postural stability for feeding, facilitating more typical patterns of movement e.g., hands to mouth, hands to centre, core stability and correct head/truck position for feeding.

Determine which direct interventions best facilitate oral skills and sucking skills in the infant.

 Direct oral stimulation by finger stimulation protocol (Lessen-Knoll et al 2019; da Rosa Peirera et al 2020; Greene et al 2016, Fucile et al 2002, 2003, 2011, 2012, 2018, Harding 2012, 2014, Lessen et al 2011, Arora 2018)

- Use of soother/soother dips during tube feeds (Harding 2009, 2012, 2014 a, b: Bingham 2010)
- Direct swallow stimulation techniques (Lau & Smith 2012)
- Direct modification of the oral feeding activity e.g.
 - o pacing/limiting sucks per burst.
 - o limiting oral volumes at each feed
 - providing cheek/ jaw support during feeding (Boiron et al 2007)

Determine which compensatory techniques will help support feeding skill development.

- Swaddling (Van Slewen et al 2007)
- Positional changes e.g., Semi-elevated side lying or upright positions to achieve postural alignment (Girgin et al 2018; Park et al 2018; Park et al 2014; Thoyre et al 2012)
- Modification of the food and fluid consistency to control bolus flow (Madhoun et al 2016, IDDSI, HSE 2018, Kwok et al 2017; Collins et al., 2004; Daniel et al 2019; Gosa et al 2015, 2016; Mizuno & Ueda, 2002)
- Other sensory stimulation e.g. olfaction (Khodagoli et al 2018) or Music (Standley 2012)
- Utensils which may assist with introduction of oral feeding and modify flow rate.
 - Spoons (Kumar 2010)
 - Finger feeding (Moreia et al 2017)
 - Cups (Moreia et al, 2017, Collins et al, 2004; Flint & Davies, 2007, 2016; Gilks et al, 2004; Mosely et al, 2001; Rocha et al, 2017; WHO 2011, 2019)
 - Teats (McGrattan et al 2017; Pados et al 2015; Harding & Bell 2019; Pados et al 2019)
 - Controlled flow vacuum free bottles (Fucile 2009; Fewtrell 2012)

Advise on techniques to diminish or avoid an oral/tactile aversive behaviour due to the presence of feeding tube, suctioning or other adverse medical procedures

Importance of Oral Hygiene and Mouth Care
The principle objective of mouthcare in any
patient population is to maintain the mouth in

Liaise with the MDT to ensure optimal mouth/oral care.

Specific aims of mouth care include:

good condition. The effects of Oropharyngeal Administration of Mother's Milk (OPPAM) i.e., using colostrum for oral care protocols in all premature infants in NICU before the onset of oral feeding is being studied currently in a multicenter trial (Rodriguez et al 2015; Nasuf et al 2018) with the impact on transition to oral feeding as one of the outcomes of interest. (Bravery, et al, 2014, Thames Valley & Wessex Neonatal Operational Delivery Network 2016, EFCNI 2018)

- Keep the oral mucosa clean, soft, moist and intact, thus decreasing the risk of oral and systemic infection.
- Keep the lips clean, moist and intact.
- Remove debris without damaging the mucosa.
- Alleviate pain/discomfort, and for some patients enabling oral intake.
- Freshen the mouth.
- Increase general wellbeing.
- Advocate the use of colostrum and breast milk for oral care where applicable.

Breastfeeding and Breastmilk feeding supports

Understand how to support a mum who wants

- Breastfeed her infant.
- Provide breastmilk for her infant via feeding tube or bottle.

(Skaaning et al 2020; UNICEF/WHO 2009, Dodrill 2016c, WHO 2017, Kim et al 2018, Fucile et al 2018, Karimi et al 2019)

SLT should liaise with lactation advisors where available.

The SLT role in breastfeeding involves;

- advising on optimal positioning of baby to breast to facilitate postural and respiratory stability and achieve best latch possible.
- Encourage skin to skin opportunities for oral stimulation at the breast and physiologic stability.
- Direct oral stimulation to promote oral skills for sucking where applicable (Fucile 2018)
- Assist with ensuring infant has appropriate oral skills to achieve deep latch for sucking.

The SLT role in breastmilk feeding involves

- Supporting skin to skin opportunities and oral stimulation at the breast (if medically safe) to help boost maternal milk supply and maternal wellbeing.
- Assisting the transition from tube to breastfeeding by implementing supports around oral skills, sucking and position as above where necessary

Transitioning from tube feeding to oral feeding

The therapist should know

- the different methods of tube feeding (nasogastric, nasojejunal, PEG (Percutaneous Endoscopic Gastrostomy), PEJ (Percutaneous Endoscopic Jejunostomy) (ASPEN 2002, Blumenstein et al 2014)
- Rationale for type of tube employed.
- Positive and adverse effects of feeding tubes

- Identify when an infant is showing signs of tube dependency (Dunitz-Scheer et al 2009; 2011)
- Identify when an infant is showing signs of readiness to attempt oral feeding (Morag 2019; Lubbe 2019; White-Traut et al 2005; Crowe 2012; Harding et al 2018)
- Establish that the infant has reasonable oral skills and appropriate developmental skills to attempt oral feeding e.g., reasonable sucking, swallows' own secretions, hands to mouth achievable.
- Provide oral skills/stimulation advice and intervention where required (Greene 2016; Lubbe 2019)

- Feed schedules e.g., Difference between bolus feed schedules versus continuous feed schedules
- Some co-morbid medical conditions may exclude full feeding tube weaning e.g., some metabolic conditions, problems with blood sugar management, neurological conditions where feeding endurance may be an issue.
- to identify feeding dependency and the negative impact it can have on the infant (Dunitz-Scheer et al 2009; 2011)

- Identify oral feeding opportunities in the infant's existing tube feeding regime (Morag
- Semi-demand feeds moving towards demand feeds (McCain et al 2001/2002; Lubbe 2019)
- Liaise with the MDT and dietitian in order to manipulate infant tube feeds to promote increased hunger during the day (Byars KC et al 2003, Dovey et al 2013)
- Support parents who are helping their infant transition from tube to oral feeding (Morag 2019)
- Ensure infant who transitions to full oral feeding continues to make developmental gains and advance to a range of textures as appropriate following national and international solid weaning guidelines (HSE 2018, D'Auria E et al 2019, bliss.uk.org)

Parent and caregiver skills

Parent/carer education and training is an integral part of FEDS disorder management in the paediatric population and is should be incorporated into all of the above categories. (Craig 2013, White-Traut et al 2013, Dodrill 2016c, Harding et al 2019)

- Providing clear/concise and accurate information and guidelines
- Demonstrating skills for parents/carers to use for feeding their baby.
- Assessing the parent's competency integrating/using skills that have been provided by the SLT.
- Liaise with other MDT members in supporting parents/carers develop new skills and manage stressful feeding situations

Multidisciplinary **Nature** of **FEDS** Management

SLT should

- be aware of all roles of the other members of the MDT in their setting and should liaise with and refer to as appropriate.
- Seek support from SLT colleagues in other centres for clarity on medical or other issues as required.

Liaise with all relevant MDT members in relation to

- Medical and nursing issues
- Medications/Medical interventions
- Co-Morbid conditions
- Postural or movement issues
- Lactation advice
- Developmental issues
- Feeding tube issues
- Parent/Caregiver support 0
- SLT colleagues in other centres for support or input

References

- 1. Alexander, R. (1987) Oral-motor treatment for infants and young children with cerebral palsy. Seminars in Speech & Language, 8, 87-100
- 2. Aloysus A, Platonos K, Deirerl A, Banerjee J. (2018) The neonatal parent experience: How IFDS can help. Journal of Neonatal Nursing. 24; 66-73
- 3. Als, H. (1986). A synactive model of neonatal behavioural organization: framework for the assessment of neurobehavioral development in the premature infant and for support of infants and parents in the neonatal intensive care environment. Physical & Occupational Therapy in Paediatrics, 6(3-4), 3-53
- 4. Amaizu, N., Shulman, R. J., Schanler, R. J., & Lau, C. (2008) Maturation of oral feeding skills in preterm infants. Acta Paediatrica, 97(1), 61-67
- 5. American Academy of Pediatrics (2004) Age terminology during the perinatal period Pediatrics 114: 1362-1364
- 6. American Society for Pareneteral and Enteral Nutrition (ASPEN). (2002). Guidelines for the use of parenteral and enteral nutrition in adult and pediatric patients. Journal of Parenteral and Enteral Nutrition, 26(S1), ISA-138SA
- 7. Anderson, G.C., Vidyasagar, D. (1979) Development of sucking in premature infants from 1 to 7 days post birth. Birth Defects 15: 145 171
- 8. Arora K, Goel S, Manerkar S, Nimisha K, PAnchal H, Hedge D, Mondkar J Prefeeding oromotor stimulation program for improving oromotor function in preterm infants Indian Pediatrics Vomune 55 August 2018, 675-678
- 9. Arvedson, J., B. Rogers, G. Buck, P. Smart, and M. Msall. 1994. 'Silent aspiration prominent in children with dysphagia', Int J Pediatr Otorhinolaryngol, 28: 173
- Arvedson, J.C. (2008) Assessment of Paediatric Dysphagia and Feeding Disorders:
 Clinical and Instrumental Approaches. Developmental Disabilities Research Reviews
 14: 118-127
- 11. Arvedson, J.C., & Brodsky, L. (2002) Pediatric Swallowing and Feeding: Assessment and Management. 2nd Ed. Singular Thomson Learning
- 12. Arvedson J. (2006) Interpretation of videofluoroscopic swallow studies of Infants and Children: A study guide to improve diagnostics and treatment planning. Northern Speech Services.
- Atkinson, S.A. (2000) Human milk feeding of the micropreemie. Clinical Perinatology 27: 235-247

- 14. Bahrami, B., Marofi, M., Farajzadegan, Z., Behzad, B. (2019) Validation of the Early Feeding Skills Assessment Scale for the Evaluation of Oral feeding in Premature Infants. Iranian Journal of Neonatology, Article 12, Vol. 10, Issue 2, pages 68-75/
- Barlow, S.M. Finan, D.S. (2010) Feeding Skills in the Preterm Infant. The ASHA Leader.
- Batty, S. (2009) Communication, swallowing and feeding in the intensive care unit patient. Nursing in Critical Care, ISSN: 1478-5153, Jul-Aug; Vol. 14 (4), pp. 175-9; PMID: 19531034
- 17. Baumgartner, C.A., Bewyer, E., & Bruner, D. (2008) Management of Communication and swallowing in Intensive Care. The role of the Speech Pathologist. Advanced Clinical Care Vol. 19, N. 4, 433-443.
- Belafsky, P.C., Blumenfeld, L., LePage, A., Nahrstedt, K., The accuracy of the modified Evan's blue dye test in predicting aspiration. The Laryngoscope [Laryngoscope], ISSN: 0023-852X, 2003 Nov; Vol. 113 (11), pp. 1969-72; PMID: 14603057
- Bhatia, J., & Parish, A. (2009): GERD or nor GERD: the fussy infant. Journal of Perinatology: 29, S7-S11
- 20. Bickell, M; Barton, C; Dow, K; Fucile, S;(2018) 'A Systematic Review of Clinical and Psychometric Properties of Infant Oral Motor Feeding Assessments.' Developmental Neurorehabilitation, 21:6, 351-361, DOI: 10.1080/17518423.2017.1289272
- 21. Bingham, P.M., Ashikaga, T., & Abbasi, S. (2012) Relationship of Neonatal Oral Motor Assessment Scale to Feeding Performance of Premature Infants. Journal of Neonatal Nursing 18, 30-36
- 22. Bingham, P.M., Ashikaya T., Abbasi, S. (2010) Prospective study of non-nutritive sucking and feeding skills in premature infants. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed;95: F194-F200 doi:10.1136/adc.2009.164186
- 23. Blaymore-Bier, J., Ferguson, A., Cho, C. (1993) The oral motor development of low-birth weight infants who underwent orolaryngeal intubation during the neonatal period. American Journal of Disabilities in Children 147: 858 62
- 24. BLISS Weaning your Premature Baby.
- 25. Blumenstein, I., Shastri, Y. M., & Stein, J. (2014). Gastroenteric tube feeding: Techniques, problems and solutions. World Journal of Gastroenterology, 20(26), 8505-8524. doi: 10.3748/wjg. v20.i26.8505
- 26. BMC Res Notes, 5: 150.

- 27. Boiron M, Da Nobrega L, Roux S, Henrot A, Saliba E. Effects of oral stimulation and oral support on non- nutritive sucking and feeding performance in preterm infants. Developmental Medicine and Child Neurology 2007; 49(6):439–44.
- 28. Bragelien, R., Røkke, W., & Markestad, T. (2007) Stimulation of sucking and swallowing to promote oral feeding in premature infants. Acta Paediatrica (Oslo, Norway: 1992), 96(10), 1430-1432
- 29. Bravery. K et al (2014) Mouth Care Guideline, Great Ormond Street Hospital, http://www.gosh.nhs.uk/health-professionals/clinical guidelines?listing_search=mouth+care
- 30. Brazelton, T. B., & Nugent, J. K. (1995). Neonatal behavioural assessment scale (No. 137). Cambridge University PressBrowne JV. (2008). Chemosensory development in the foetus and newborn. Newborn and Infant Nursing Reviews. Dec 31;8(4):180-6
- 31. Brodsky, D., & Ouellette, M.A. (2008) Primary Care of the Premature Infant. Saunders.
- 32. Buswell, C. A., Leslie, P., Embleton, N. D., & Drinnan, M. J. (2009) Oral-motor Dysfunction at 10 Months Corrected Gestational Age in Infants Born Less Than 37 Weeks Preterm. Dysphagia, 24: 20-25.
- 33. Byars, K.C., Burklow, K.A., Ferguson, K., O'Flaherty, T., Santoro, K., Kaul, A. (2003)

 A multicomponent behavioural program for oral aversion in children dependent on gastrostomy feedings. Journal of Pediatric Gastroenterology and Nutrition 37: 473 480
- 34. Calvo, I., Conway, A., Henriques, F., & Walshe, M. (2016). Diagnostic accuracy of the clinical feeding evaluation in detecting aspiration in children: A systematic review Developmental Medicine & Child Neurology, 58: 541-553
- 35. Canning, A., Fairhurst, R., Chauhan, M. et al. Oral Feeding for Infants and Children Receiving Nasal Continuous Positive Airway Pressure and High-Flow Nasal Cannula Respiratory Supports: A Survey of Practice. *Dysphagia* 35, 443–454 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1007/s00455-019-10047-4
- 36. Carnaby G Food for thought: Importance of a clinical exam/cranial nerve assessment ASHA Perspectives on Swallowing and Swallowing Disorders Vol 21, No 4, pp112-149, December 2012
- 37. Caskey, M., Stephens, B., Tucker, R., & Vohr, B. (2014). Adult talk in the NICU with preterm infants and developmental outcomes. Pediatrics, 133(3), e578-e58
- 38. Chang, Y. J., C. P. Lin, Y. J. Lin, and C. H. Lin. 2007. 'Effects of single-hole and cross-cut nipple units on feeding efficiency and physiological parameters in

- 39. Chrupcala KA, Edwards TM, Spatz DL. (2015). A Continuous Quality Improvement Project to Implement Infant-Driven Feeding as a Standard of Practice in the Newborn/Infant Intensive Care Unit. Journal of Obstetric, Gynecologic, & Neonatal Nursing. Sep 1;44(5):654-64
- 40. Cichero, J., & Murdoch, B. Dysphagia: Foundation, Theory and Practice 2006, Wiley.
- 41. Clark, L., Kennedy, G., Pring, T., Hird, M. (2007) Improving bottle feeding in preterm infants: Investigating the elevated side-lying position. Infant Vol. 3; 4 154 158
- 42. Collins CT, Ryan P, Crowther CA, McPhee AJ, Paterson S, Hiller JE. (2004). Effect of bottles, cups and dummies on breast feeding in preterm infants: a randomised controlled trial. BMJ Online First bmj.com; BMJ, doi:10.1136/bmj.38131.675914.55
- 43. Craig GM Psychosocial aspects of feeding children with neurodisability European Journal of Clinical Nutrition (2013) 67, S17–S20; doi:10.1038/ejcn.2013.226
- 44. Crapnell, TL; Rogers CE; Neil JJ; Inder TE; Woodward LJ; Pineda RG. (2013) "Factors associated with feeding difficulties in the very preterm infant." Acta Paediatrica/Volume 102, Issue 12, P 13
- 45. Crowe, L; Chang, A; Wallace, K. (2017). "Instruments for Assessing Readiness to Commence Suck Feeds in Preterm Infants: Effects on Time to Establish Full Oral Feeding and Duration of Hospitalization. (Review). The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley&Sons, Ltd.
- 46. Daniel R. Duncan, Kara Larson and Rachel L. Rosen, Clinical Aspects of Thickeners for Pediatric Gastroesophageal Reflux and Oropharyngeal Dysphagia, Current Gastroenterology Reports, 10.1007/s11894-019-0697-2, 21, 7, (2019).
- 47. da Rosa Pereira K, Levy DS, Procianoy RS, Silveira RC (2020) Impact of a pre-feeding oral stimulation program on first feed attempt in preterm infants: Double-blind controlled clinical trial. PLoS ONE 15(9): e0237915. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0237915
- 48. Dietrich, K.N., Eskenazi, B., Schantz, S., Yolton, K., Rauh, V.A., Johnson, C.B., Alkon, A., Canfield, R.L., Pessah, I., and Berman, R.F. (2005) Principles and Practices of Neurodevelopmental Assessment in Children: Lessons Learned from the Centers for Children's Environmental Health and Disease Prevention Research Environ Health Perspect. 113(10): 1437–1446.Published online 2005 June 24. doi: 10.1289/ehp.7672 PMCID: PMC1281293

- 49. Dodrill P(a) Typical Feeding and Swallowing Development in Infants and Children in Groher M.E. and Crary M.A (Eds) Dysphagia Clinical Management in Adults and Children (2nd Edition) 2016 pp253-268
- 50. Dodrill P(b) Disorders affecting feeding and Swallowing in Infants and Children in Groher M.E. and Crary M.A (Eds) Dysphagia Clinical Management in Adults and Children (2nd Edition) 2016 pp271-301.
- 51. Dodrill P(c) Treatment of Feeding and Swallowing Difficulties in Infants and Children in Groher M.E. and Crary M.A (Eds) Dysphagia Clinical Management in Adults and Children (2nd Edition) 2016 pp 325 348
- 52. Dovey, T. M., Bond Wooldridge, M., Martin, C. I., & Southall, A. (2013). The Importance of Detailed Assessment in Tube Weaning: Lessons from a Complex Case. ICAN: Infant, Child, & Adolescent Nutrition, 5(5), 298-305. doi: 10.1177/1941406413500809
- 53. Dunitz-Scheer, M., Levine, A., Roth, Y., Kratky, E., Beckenbach, H., Braegger, C., . . . Scheer, P. J. (2009). Prevention and Treatment of Tube Dependency in Infancy and Early Childhood. ICAN: Infant, Child, & Adolescent Nutrition, 1(2), 73-82. doi: 10.1177/1941406409333988
- 54. Dunitz-Scheer, M., Marinschek, S., Beckenbach, H., Kratky, E., Hauer, A., & Scheer, P. (2011). Tube Dependence: A Reactive Eating Behavior Disorder. ICAN: Infant, Child, & Adolescent Nutrition, 3(4), 209-215. doi: 10.1177/1941406411416359
- 55. D'Auria E, Bergamini M, Staiano A, Banerali G, Pendassa E, Penagini F, Zuccotti GV, Peroni DG Baby-led weaning: What a systematic review of the literature adds on Italian Journal of Pediatrics (2018) 44-49
- 56. Edwards AD, Austin T. Noise in the NICU: How prevalent is it and is it a problem? Infant 2016; 12(5): 161-65
- 57. Edwards D, Mayfield E, Simon M Feeding considerations in infants with bronchopulmonary dysplasia ASHA Perspectives on Swallowing and Swallowing Disorders Vol 21, No 4, pp112-149, December 2012
- 58. EFCNI, Gross D, Oude-Reimer M et al., European Standards of Care for Newborn Health: Mouth care. 2018.
- 59. Eichenwald EC, Blackwell M, Lloyd JS, Tran T, Wilker RE, Richardson DK. (2001). Inter-neonatal intensive care unit variation in discharge timing: influence of apnea and feeding management. Pediatrics. Oct 1;108(4):928-33
- 60. Evans Morris S, Klein M (2000) 2nd Ed Pre Feeding Skills: A Comprehensive Resource for Mealtime Development Therapy Skill Builders

- 61. Faugli, A. Emblem, R. Bjornland, K. Diseth, T. (2009) Mental Health in Infants with Esophageal Atresia. Infant Mental Health Journal, 30(1), 40-56.
- 62. Fewtrell, M. S., K. Kennedy, R. Nicholl, A. Khakoo, and A. Lucas. 2012. Infant feeding bottle design, growth and behaviour: results from a randomised trial,
- 63. Flint A, New K, Davies MW. Cup feeding versus other forms of supplemental enteral feeding for newborn infants unable to fully breastfeed. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2016;2016(8):CD005092. Published 2016 Aug 31. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD005092.pub3
- 64. Fucile, S., & Gisel, E., G. (2010) Sensorimotor interventions improve growth and motor function in preterm infants. Neonatal Network, 29(6), 359-366.
- 65. Fucile, S., Gisel, E., & Lau, C. (2002). Oral stimulation accelerates the transition from tube to oral feeding in preterm infants [corrected] [published erratum appears in J PEDIATR 2002 Nov; 141(5):743]. Journal of Pediatrics, 141(2), 230-236.
- 66. Fucile, S., Gisel, E., Schanler, R. J., & Lau, C. (2009) A controlled-flow vacuum-free bottle system enhances preterm infants' nutritive sucking skills. Dysphagia, 24(2), 145-151.
- 67. Fucile, S., Gisel, E. G., & Lau, C. (2005) Effect of an oral stimulation program on sucking skill maturation of preterm infants. Developmental Medicine & Child Neurology, 47(3), 158-162.
- 68. Fucile S, Gisel EG. Sensorimotor interventions improve growth and motor function in preterm infants. Neonatal Network 2010;29(6): 359–66.
- Fucile S., Gisel E. G., McFarland D H., Lau C. (2011) Oral and non-oral sensorimotor interventions enhance oral feeding performance in preterm infants. Developmental Medicine and Child Neurology, 53: 829 – 835
- 70. Fucile S1, Milutinov M1, Timmons K1, Dow K1. Oral Sensorimotor Intervention Enhances Breastfeeding Establishment in Preterm Infants; Breastfeed Med. 2018 Sep;13(7):473-478. doi: 10.1089/bfm.2018.0014. Epub 2018 Aug 16.
- 71. Fujinaga, Cl.; Alves de Moraes, S; Zamberlan-Amorim, NE; Correa Castral, T; de Almeida e Silva, A; Scochi, CGS; (2013) 'Clinical validation of the Preterm Oral Feeding Readiness Assessment Scale.' Revista Latino-Americana de Enfermagem, Vol. 21, Jan/Feb. http://dx.doi.org/10.1590/S000104-11692013000700018
- 72. Gennattasio, A; Perri, E; Baranek, D; Rohan, A; 'Oral Feeding Readiness Assessment in Premature Infants.' (2015) The American Journal of Maternal/Child Nursing; March/April, Vol. 40; Issue 2; Pp: 96-104

IRISH ASSOCIATION OF SPEECH & LANGUAGE THERAPISTS

- 73. Gewolb, I. H., Vice, F. L., Schweitzer-Kenney, E. L., Taciak, V. L., Bosma, J. F. (2001)

 Developmental patterns of rhythmical suckle and swallow in preterm infants.

 Developmental Medicine and Child Neurology 43: 22-7
- 74. Gewolb IH, Vice FL. (2006). Maturational changes in the rhythms, patterning, and coordination of respiration and swallow during feeding in preterm and term infants. Developmental Medicine & Child Neurology. Jul 1;48(7):589-94
- 75. Girgin, BA, Gözen, D, Karatekin, G. Effects of two different feeding positions on physiological characteristics and feeding performance of preterm infants: A randomized controlled trial. J Spec Pediatr Nurs. 2018; 23: e12214. https://doi.org/10.1111/jspn.12214
- 76. Glackin SJ, O'Sullivan A, George S, et al High flow nasal cannula versus NCPAP, duration to full oral feeds in preterm infants: a randomised controlled trialArchives of Disease in Childhood Fetal and Neonatal Edition 2017;102: F329-F332.
- Goday, P.S., Huh, S.Y., Silverman, A., Lukens, C.T., Dodrill, P., Cohen, S.S., Delaney,
 A.L., Feuling, M.B., Noel, R.J., Gisel, E., Kenzer, A., Kessler, D.B., Kraus de Camargo,
 O., Browne, J., & Phalen, J.A. (2019). Pediatric feeding disorder Consensus
 definition and conceptual framework. JPGN. Vol 68, No. 1: 124-129
- 78. Gosa, Memorie & Corkins, Mark. (2015). Necrotizing Enterocolitis and the Use of Thickened Liquids for Infants with Dysphagia. Perspectives on Swallowing and Swallowing Disorders (Dysphagia). 24. 10.1044/sasd24.2.44.
- 79. Gosa, Memorie & Dodrill, Pamela. (2016). Effect of Time and Temperature on Thickened Infant Formula. Nutrition in Clinical Practice. 32. 10.1177/0884533616662991.
- 80. Gosa, Memorie M. et al. 'Evidence to Support Treatment Options for Children with Swallowing and Feeding Disorders: A Systematic Review'. I Jan. 2017: 107 136.
- 81. Greene Z, O'Donnell CPF, Walshe M. Oral stimulation for promoting oral feeding in preterm infants. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2016, Issue 9. Art. No.: CD009720.
- 82. Groher, ME., Crary, MA. (2010) Dysphagia: Clinical Management in Adults and Children Mosby Elsevier: Missouri
- 83. Guideline: Protecting, Promoting and Supporting Breastfeeding in Facilities Providing Maternity and Newborn Services. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017. Licence: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO.
- 84. Harding, C. (2006) The use of non-nutritive sucking to promote functional sucking skills in premature infants: an exploratory trial. Infant: (2) Issue 6
- ◆ IRISH ASSOCIATION OF SPEECH & LANGUAGE THERAPISTS

- 85. Harding, C. (2009). An evaluation of the benefits of non-nutritive sucking for premature infants as described in the literature. Archives of Disease in Childhood, 94(8), 636-640
- 86. Harding, C., Frank, L., Botting, N., & Hilari, K. (2015). Assessment and management of infant feeding. Infant, 11(3), 85-89
- 87. Harding, C., Mynard, A., & Hills, E. (2018). Identification of premature infant states in relation to introducing oral feeding. Journal of Neonatal Nursing, 24(2), 104-110.
- 88. Harding, C. 2009. 'An evaluation of the benefits of non-nutritive sucking for premature infants as described in the literature', Arch Dis Child, 94: 636-40.
- 89. Harding, C. and Bell, N. (2019). An investigation of the flow rates of disposable bottle teats used to feed preterm and medically fragile infants in neonatal units across the UK in comparison with flow rates of commercially available bottle teats. Speech, Language and Hearing, 1-9.
- 90. Harding C, Frank L, Dungu C, Colton N. (2012). The use of non-nutritive sucking to facilitate oral feeding in a term infant: a single case study. Journal of pediatric nursing. Dec 31;27 (6):700-6
- 91. Harding C, Frank L, Van Someren V, Hilari, K, Botting N (2014a) How does non-nutritive sucking support infant feeding? Infant Behavior and Development, 37(4) pp. 457-464
- 92. Harding C, Levin A, Crossley SL, Murphy R, Van den Engel-Hoek L Effects of early communication intervention on speech and communication skills of preterm infants in the neonatal intensive care unit (NICU): A systematic review Journal of Neonatal Nursing Online 6th May 2019
- 93. Harding C. M, (2014b) Non-Nutritive Sucking for Infants: What are the issues? Infant, 10)2), pp 50-53
- 94. Hawdon, J. M., Beauregard, N., Slattery, J., & Kennedy, G. (2000). Identification of neonates at risk of developing feeding problems in infancy. Developmental Medicine & Child Neurology, 42(4), 235-239
- 95. Hewetson, R., Singh, S. (2009) The lived experience of mothers of children with chronic feeding and/or swallowing difficulties. Dysphagia 24: 322 332
- 96. Hiorns M, Ryan M. (2006) Current practice in paediatric videofluoroscopy. Pediatric Radiology, Vol. 36, Issue 9, 911-919
- 97. Hirst K, Dodrill P, Gosa M Noninvasive Respiratory Support and Feeding in the Neonate Perspectives of the ASHA Special interest group SIG 13 Vol 2 (part 3), 2017 (82-92)

- 98. Howe, T. H., Sheu, C. F., Hsieh, Y. W., & Hsieh, C. L. (2007). Psychometric characteristics of the neonatal oral-motor assessment scale in healthy preterm infants. Developmental Medicine & Child Neurology, 49(12), 915-919.
- 99. Health Services Executive (Ireland) HSE 2016 Tongue Tie: Fact Sheet for Health Care Professionals Tie, T., Coryllos, M., Anterior, S. A., & Alveolar, I. A. (2015). Tongue Tie Fact sheet for Health Care Professionals Anterior Tie (Types I and II) Posterior (submucosal) Tie (Types III and IV), I–II. Retrieved from https://www.breastfeeding.ie/Support-search/
- 100. HSE (Health Service Executive) 2018 Feeding Your Baby https://www.safefood.eu/Healthy-Eating/Food-Diet/Life-Stages/Weaning.aspx
- 101. HSE (Health Service Executive) 2018 International Dysphagia Diet Standardisation Initiative https://www.hse.ie/eng/services/news/newsfeatures/international-dysphagiadiet-standardisation-initiative/IDDSI International Dysphagia Diet Standardisation Initiative https://iddsi.org
- 102. Ingram J; Johnson D; Copeland M; Churchill C; Taylor, H. (2015) The Development of a New Breast-Feeding Assessment Tool and the Relationship with Breast Feeding Efficiency. Midwifery. Volume 31, Issue 1, Pages 132-13
- 103. Jadcherla S Dysphagia in the high-risk infant: potential factors and mechanisms Am J Clin Nutr 2016;103(Suppl):622S–8S.
- 104. Jadcherla S Advances with neonatal aerodigestive science in the pursuit of safe swallowing in infants: Invited review. Dysphagia 2017; 32 (1): 15-26
- 105. Karimi FZ, Sadeghi R, Maleki-Saghooni N, Khadivzadeh T The effect of mother-infant skin to skin contacts on success and duration of first breastfeeding: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Taiwan J Obstet Gynecol. 2019 Jan;58(1):1-9. doi: 10.1016/j.tjog.2018.11.002.
- 106. Kennedy, G. Speech and Language Therapists in Neonatal Care (2005). Presentation to the British Association of Perinatal Medicine Feb; 11: 4.
- 107. Khodagholi Z, Zarifian T, Soleimani F, Khoshnood Shariati M, Bakhshi E. The Effect of Non-Nutritive Sucking and Maternal Milk Odor on the Independent Oral Feeding in Preterm Infants. Iran J Child Neurol. Autumn 2018; 12(4):55-64
- 108. Kim SK, Park S, Oh J, Kim J, Ahn S Interventions promoting exclusive breastfeeding up to six months after birth: A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Int J Nurs Stud. 2018 Apr; 80:94-105. doi: 10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2018.01.004. Epub 2018 Jan 12.

- 109. Kirk, A. T., Alder, S. C., & King, J. D. (2007). Cue-based oral feeding clinical pathway results in earlier attainment of full oral feeding in premature infants. Journal of Perinatology, 27(9), 572
- 110. Kish, M. Z. (2013). Oral feeding readiness in preterm infants: a concept analysis. Advances in Neonatal Care, 13(4), 230-237
- 111. Ko, MJ; Kang, MJ; Ko, KJ; Ki, YO; Chang HJ; Kwon JY. (2011)" Clinical Usefulness of Schedule for Oral-Motor Assessment (SOMA) in Children with Dysphagia. Annals of Rehabilitation Medicine, 35(4):477-484. DOI: 10.5535/arm.2011.35.4.477
- 112. Kogan BE, Ramaswamy, Plattner C, Kirshbom PM, Kanter KR, Simsic J (2007)
 Feeding Difficulty in newborns following congenital heart surgery. Congenital Heart
 Disease, 2: 332-337
- 113. Kumar A, Dabas P, Singh B. Spoon feeding results in early hospital discharge of low-birth-weight babies. Journal of Perinatology 2010;30(3):209–17.
- 114. Kwok TC, Ojha S, Dorling J. Feed thickener for infants up to six months of age with gastro-oesophageal reflux. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2017, Issue 12 Art. No.: CD003211.
- I15. Lessen Knoll B, Daramas T, Drake V Randomized <u>Controlled Trial of a Prefeeding</u>
 Oral Motor Therapy and Its Effect on Feeding Improvement in a Thai NICU JOGNN,
 48, 176-188; 2019. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jogn.2019.01.003
- 116. Berenice Mathisen, Linda Worrall, Michael O'callaghan, Clare Wall & Ross W. Shepherd (2000) Feeding Problems and Dysphagia in Six-Month-Old Extremely Low Birth Weight Infants, Advances in Speech Language Pathology, 2:1, 9-17, DOI: 10.3109/14417040008996782
- 117. Maurer I, Latal B, Geismann H, Knirsch W, Bauersfeld U, Balmer C (2011)
 Prevalence and predictors of later feeding disorders in children who underwent neonatal cardiac surgery for congenital heart disease. Cardiology in the Young. 21. 303-9
- 118. McCain, G. C. (1992). Facilitating inactive awake states in preterm infants: a study of three interventions. Nursing Research, 41(3), 157-160
- 119. McCain, G. C., & Gartside, P. S. (2002). Behavioral responses of preterm infants to a standard-care and semi-demand feeding protocol. Newborn and Infant Nursing Reviews, 2(3), 187-193
- 120. McCain GC, Gartside PS, Greenberg JM, Lott JW. A feeding protocol for healthy preterm infants that shortens time to oral feeding. Journal of Pediatrics 2001;139(3): 374–9.
- IRISH ASSOCIATION OF SPEECH & LANGUAGE THERAPISTS

- 121. McCurtin, A. (1997) Manual of Paediatric Feeding Practice. Speechmark.
- 122. McCurtin, A. (2007) The Fun with Food Programme: Therapeutic Intervention for Children with Aversion to Oral Feeding Speechmark.
- 123. McGrattan KE, McFarland DH, Dean JC, Hill E, White DR, Martin-Harris B Effect of single-use, laser cut, slow flow nipples on respiration and milk ingestion in preterm infants AJSLP Vol 26, August 2017, 832-839
- 124. McKean EB, Kasparian NA, Batra S, Sholler GF, Winlaw DS, Dalby-Payne J. Feeding Difficulties in neonates following cardiac surgery: Determinants of prolonged feedingtube use. Cardiol Young. 2017; 27 96): 1203-1211
- 125. McKinney CM, Glass RP, Coffey P, Rue T, Vaughn MG, Cunningham M. Feeding Neonates by Cup: A Systematic Review of the Literature. Matern Child Health J. 2016;20(8):1620–1633. doi:10.1007/s10995-016-1961-9
- 126. Miller AJ Oral and Pharyngeal Reflexes in the Mammalian Nervous System: Their Diverse Range in Complexity and the Pivotal Role of the Tongue CROBM 2002 13: 409 DOI: 10.1177/154411130201300505
- 127. Miller CK, Willging JP. Fiberoptic Endoscopic Evaluation of Swallowing in Infants and Children: Protocol, Safety, and Clinical Efficacy: 25 Years of Experience. Ann Otol Rhinol Laryngol. 2020 May;129(5):469-481. doi: 10.1177/0003489419893720. Epub 2019 Dec 17. PMID: 31845586.
- 128. Mizuno, K., A. Ueda, and T. Takeuchi. 2002. Effects of Different Fluids on the Relationship between Swallowing and Breathing during Nutritive Sucking in Neonates, Biol Neonate, 81: 45-50.
- 129. Moon CH; Jung Hg; Cheon HJ; Oh SM; Ki YO and Kwon JY. (2017) 'Verification of Reliability and Validity of the Feeding and Swallowing Scale for Premature Infants (FSSPI). Annals of Rehabilitation Medicine; 41 (4):631-637. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5535/arm.2017.41.4.631
- 130. Moore, T., Hennessy, E. M., Myles, J., Johnson, S. J., Draper, E. S., Costeloe, K. L., & Marlow, N. (2012). Neurological and developmental outcome in extremely preterm children born in England in 1995 and 2006: The EPICure studies. BMJ 345, e7961
- 131. Morag, I., Hendel, Y., Karol, D., Geva, R., & Tzipi, S. (2019). Transition from nasogastric tube to oral feeding: The role of parental guided responsive feeding. Frontiers in Pediatrics, 7(MAY), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.3389/fped.2019.00190
- 132. Moreira CM, Cavalcante-Silva RP, Fujinaga CI, Marson F. Comparison of the finger-feeding versus cup feeding methods in the transition from gastric to oral feeding in preterm infants. J Pediatr (Rio J). 2017; 93:585–91.
- IRISH ASSOCIATION OF SPEECH & LANGUAGE THERAPISTS

- 133. Morris, S. E., & Klein, M. D. (2000) Pre-Feeding Skill: A comprehensive resource for mealtime development. Therapy Skills Builder.
- 134. Mussatto KA, Hoffmann RG, Hoffman GM, Tweddell JS, Bear L, Cao Y, Brosig C Risk and Prevalence of Developmental Dealy in young children with congenital heart disease. Pediatrics 2014; 133: e570-577
- 135. Nasuf AWA, Ojha S, Dorling J. Oropharyngeal colostrum in preventing mortality and morbidity in preterm infants. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2018 Sep 7;9:CD011921. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD011921.pub2.
- 136. Neiva FBC; Leone C; Leone CR (2008) Non-Nutritive Sucking Scoring System for Preterm Newborns. Acta Paediatrica, Volume 97, Issue 10, Pages 1370-1375. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1651-2227.2008.00943.x
- 137. Neonatal Ed, 95: F194-200.
- 138. Nyqvist KH; Rubertsson C; Ewald U; Sjoden P; Development of the Preterm Infant Breastfeeding Behavior Scale (PIBBS): a study of nurse-mother agreement. Journal of Human Lactation, 1996 Sep; 12 (3): 207-19. ISSN: 0890-3344 PMID: 9025428
- 139. NZSTA New Zealand Speech-language Therapist's Association (2018) Practice Standards Flexible Endoscopic Evaluation of Swallowing (FEES) in adults and Children in New Zealand https://speechtherapy.org.nz/wp-content/uploads/2018/06/NZSTA-Practise-standards_FEES-final.pdf
- 140. Osman An Oral Feeding readiness and premature infant outcomes Journal of Neonatal Nursing Volume 25 issue 3 June 2019 (111-115)
- 141. O Shea, J., Foster, J., O Donnell, C., Breathnach, D., Jacobs, S., Todd, D., & Davis, P. (2017). Frenotomy for tongue-tie in newborn infants (Review) Cochrane Systematic Review, (3)
 - https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD011065.pub2.www.cochranelibrary.com
- 142. Pados BF, Park J, Dodrill P Know the Flow: Milk Flow Rates from Bottle Nipples
 Used in the Hospital and After Discharge Adv Neonatal Care 2019 Feb; 19(1): 32-41
- 143. Pados, BF; Estrem, HH; Thoyre, SM; Park, J; McComish, C; (2017) "The Neonatal Eating Assessment Tool: Development and Content Validation." Neonatal Network Vol 36, Issue 6
- 144. Pados BF, Park J, Thoyre SM, Estrem H, Nix WB Milk Flow Rates from Bottle Nipples Used for Feeding Infants Who Are Hospitalized American Journal of Speech-Language Pathology; Vol. 24; 671–679. November 2015

- 145. Pineda R; Harris R; Focu F; Roussin J; Wallendorf M. (2017) "Neonatal Eating Outcome Assessment: tool development and inter-rater reliability." Acta Paediatrica, 107; 414-424
- 146. Palmer MM; Crawley K; Blanco IA, Neonatal Oral-Motor Assessment scale: a reliability study. Journal of Perinatology: Official Journal of The California Perinatal Association [J Perinatal], ISSN: 0743-8346, 1993 Jan-Feb; Vol. 13 (1), pp. 28-35; PMID: 8445444
- 147. Park, Jinhee; Thoyre, Suzanne; Knafl, George J; Hodges, Eric A; Nix, William B.
 Efficacy of Semielevated Side-Lying Positioning During Bottle-Feeding of Very Preterm
 Infants: A Pilot Study the Journal of Perinatal & Neonatal Nursing: January/March
 2014 Volume 28 Issue I p 69–79
- 148. Park J, Pados B; Thoyre, SM Gephart, S Systematic Review: What Is the Evidence for the Side-Lying Position for Feeding Preterm Infants? Advances in Neonatal Care: August 2018 - Volume 18 - Issue 4 - p 285–294
- 149. Peetstold, MG. Heij, HA. Deurloo, JA. &Gemke, R. (2009) Health-related quality of life and its determinants in children and adolescents born with oesophageal atresia. Acta Pædiatrica. 99. 411-417.
- 150. Pineda, R; Harris, R; Focu, F; Roussin, J; Wallendorf, M. (2017) "Neonatal Eating Outcome Assessment: tool development and inter-rater reliability." Acta Paediactrica. 107; 414-424
- 151. Philbin, M. K., & Ross, E. S. (2011) The SOFFI reference guide: Text, algorithms, and appendices A manualized method for quality bottle-feedings. Journal of Perinatal & Neonatal Nursing, 25(4), 360-380.
- 152. Pickler, R. H., Best, A. M., Reyna, B. A., Gutcher, G., & Wetzel, P. A. (2006).
 Predictors of nutritive sucking in preterm infants. Journal of perinatology: official journal of the California Perinatal Association, 26(11), 693 premature infants', J Nurs Res, 15: 215-23.
- 153. RCSLT Royal College of Speech and Language Therapists FEES Position Paper 2020 www.rcslt.org
- 154. Reilly S; Skuse D; Mathisen B; Wolke D, The objective rating of oral-motor functions during feeding Dysphagia [Dysphagia], ISSN: 0179-051X, 1995 Summer; Vol. 10 (3), pp. 177-91; PMID: 7614860
- 155. Rocha, A. D., Lucena, S. L., Costa, A. M., Elisabeth, M., & Moreira, L. (2017). Cup or Bottle Use and Their Effect on Exclusive Breast-Feeding Rates in Preterm Infants: A Randomized Clinical Trial. 3(2). https://doi.org/10.19080/AJPN.2017.03.555607

- 156. Rodriguez NA, Vento M, Claud EC, Wang CE, Caplan MS Oropharyngeal administration of mother's colostrum, health outcomes of premature infants: study protocol for a randomized controlled trial. Trials. 2015 Oct 12; 16:453. doi: 10.1186/s13063-015-0969-6.
- 157. Rommel, N. Van Wijk, M. Boets, S. Hebbard, G. Haslam, R. Davidson, G. Omari, T. (2011) Development of pharyngo-esophageal physiology during swallowing in the preterm infant. Neurogastroenterology & Motility23, 401-408.
- 158. Ross, E. S., & Philbin, M. K. (2011). Soffi: an evidence-based method for quality bottle-feedings of preterm, ill, and fragile infants. The Journal of perinatal & neonatal nursing, 25(4), 349
- 159. Ross, E. S., & Philbin, M. K. (2011). Supporting oral feeding in fragile infants an evidence-based method for quality bottle-feedings of preterm, ill, and fragile infants. Journal of Perinatal & Neonatal Nursing, 25(4), 349-357.
- 160. Sajjadian, N., Mohammadzadeh, M., Alizadeh, P., & Shariat, M. (2017). Positive effects of low intensity recorded maternal voice on physiologic reactions in premature infants. In Infant Behavior and Development (Vol. 46). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.infbeh.2016.11.009
- 161. Samara, M., Johnson, S., Lamberts, K., Marlow, N., Wolke, D., 2010. Eating problems at age 6 years in a whole population sample of extremely preterm children.

 Developmental Medicine and Child Neurology 52, e16ee22.
- 162. Sanchez K, Spittle AJ, Slattery JM, Morgan AT Oromotor feeding in children born before 30 weeks gestation and term born peers at 12 months corrected age J Pediatr 2016; 178:113-8.
- 163. Shetty S, Hunt K, Douthwaite A, et al. High-flow nasal cannula oxygen and nasal continuous positive airway pressure and full oral feeding in infants with bronchopulmonary dysplasia Archives of Disease in Childhood Fetal and Neonatal Edition 2016;101: F408-F411
- 164. Skuse, D; Stevenson, J; Reilly, S; Mathisen, B. (1995) "Schedule for oral-motor assessment (SOMA): methods of validation." Dysphagia, Summer; 10(3):192-202
- 165. Shine AM, Finn DG, Allen N, McMahon CJ Transition from tube feeding to oral feeding: experience in a tertiary care pediatric cardiology unit. Irish Journal of Medical Science
- 166. Shrago L; Bocar D; The infant's contribution to breastfeeding. JOGNN: Journal of Obstetric, Gynecologic & Neonatal Nursing, 1990 May-Jun; 19 (3): 209-15. ISSN: 0884-2175 PMID: 2358917

- 167. Skaaning D, Carlsen E, Brødsgaard A, et al. Randomised oral stimulation and exclusive breastfeeding duration in healthy premature infants. *Acta Paediatr*. 2020; 109:2017-2024. https://doi.org/10.1111/apa.15174
- 168. Standley JM. A discussion of evidence-based music therapy to facilitate feeding skills of premature infants: the power of contingent music. *The Arts in Psychotherapy* 2012;39(5): 379-82.
- 169. Taniguchi, M. & Moyer, (1994) Assessment of risk Factors for Pneumonia in Dysphagia Children: Significance of Videofluoroscopic Swallowing Evaluation. Developmental Medicine and Child Neurology, 36(6), 495-502.
- 170. Thames Valley & Wessex Neonatal Operational Delivery Network Guideline Framework for Mouth Care on the Neonatal Unit 2016 approved Neonatal Generic email: england.tv-w-neonatalnetwork@nhs.net Neonatal Website: http://www.networks.nhs.uk/nhs-networks/thames-valley-wessex-neonatal-network
- Thoyre, S.M., Shaker, C.S., Pridham, K.F, Neonatal Network: NN [Neonatal Netw],
 ISSN: 0730-0832, 2005 May-Jun; Vol. 24 (3), pp. 7-16; PMID: 15960007
- 172. S, Park J, Pados B, Hubbard C. Developing a Co-Regulated, Cue-Based Feeding Practice: The Critical Role of Assessment and Reflection. J Neonatal Nurs. 2013;19(4):139–148. doi: 10.1016/j.jnn.2013.01.002
- 173. Thoyre SM, Holditch-Davis D, Schwartz TA, Melendez Roman CR, Nix W. Coregulated approach to feeding preterm infants with lung disease: effects during feeding. Nursing Research 2012;61(4):242–51.
- 174. UNICEF/WHO. (2009). Breastfeeding Promotion and Support in a Baby-Friendly Hospital. [http://www.unicef.org/nutrition/files/ BFHI_Revised_Section_3.2.pdf]
- 175. Van Sleuwen, B. E., Engelberts, A. C., Boere-Boonekamp, M. M., Kuis, W., Schulpen, T. W. J., & L'Hoir, M. P. (2007). Swaddling: A systematic review. Pediatrics, 120(4). https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2006-2083
- 176. Watson Genna, Catherine <u>Supporting Sucking Skills in Breastfeeding Infants</u> 3rd Ed (2017) Jones & Bartlett: MA
- 177. Wellington A, Perlman JM. (2015). Infant-driven feeding in premature infants: a quality improvement project. Archives of Disease in Childhood-Fetal and Neonatal Edition. Jun 11: fetalneonatal-2015
- 178. White-Traut, R., Norr, K. F., Fabiyi, C., Rankin, K. M., Li, Z., & Liu, L. (2013). Mother–infant interaction improves with a developmental intervention for mother–preterm infant dyads. Infant Behavior and Development, 36(4), 694-706

- 179. White-Traut, R. C., Berbaum, M. L., Lessen, B., McFarlin, B., & Cardenas, L. (2005). Feeding readiness in preterm infants: the relationship between preterm behavioral state and feeding readiness behaviors and efficiency during transition from gavage to oral feeding. MCN: The American Journal of Maternal/Child Nursing, 30 (1), 52-59
- 180. WHO? Guidelines on optimal feeding of low birth-weight infants in low- and middleincome countries. Geneva, World Health Organization; 2011 (http://www.who.int/maternal child adolescent/documents/infant feeding low bw/e n/).
- 181. WHO Geneva, WHA20.19, WHA43.27, Article 23 Definitions and Indicators in Family Planning. Maternal & Child Health and Reproductive Health. By European Regional Office, World Health Organization. Revised March 1999 & January 2001.
- 182. WHO update Feb 2019 Cup-feeding for low-birth-weight infants unable to fully breastfeed retrieved from https://www.who.int/elena/titles/cupfeeding_infants/en/ on 26 Nov 2019?
- 183. Winstock A (2005) Eating and Drinking Difficulties in Children: A Guide for Practitioners Winslow Press: Oxon
- 184. Wolf, L & Glass, R (1992) Feeding and Swallowing Disorders in Infancy. 2nd ed. Tucson: Therapy Skill Builders
- 185. Zang, X; Zhou M; Yin H, Dai, Y; Li, Y. (2017) "The Predictive Value of Early Oral Motor Assessments for Neurodevelopmental Outcomes of Moderate and Late Preterm Infants." Medicine, 96:50
- 186. Zarem, C; Kidokoro, H; Neil, J; Wallendorf, M; Inder, T; Pineda, R, 'Psychometrics of the Neonatal Oral Motor Assessment Scale.' (2013) Developmental Medicine & Child Neurology. Vol. 55; Issue 12; https://doi.org/10.1111/dmcn.12202
- 187. Zimermana E, Rosner A Feeding swallowing difficulty in the first three years of life: A preterm and full-term infant comparison Journal of Neonatal Nursing Volume 24, Issue 6, December 2018, Pages 331-335

List of Association Documents and Position Papers (cited in this document)

I. IASLT

Code of Professional Conduct and Ethics (2016)

Speech and Language Therapy Scope of Practice (2015)

Standards of Practice for Speech and Language Therapists on the Management of Feeding, Eating, Drinking and Swallowing Disorders (Dysphagia) (2012)

2. RCSLT

Reference Framework: Underpinning Competence to Practise RCSLT Competencies Project September 2003

Communicating Quality 3 (2006)

3. ASHA

American Speech-Language-Hearing Association (2002a) Knowledge and skills needed by speech-language pathologists providing services to individuals with swallowing and/or feeding disorders. ASHA Leader, 7(Suppl. 22), 81–87.

American Speech-Language-Hearing Association (2002b) Roles of speech-language pathologists in swallowing and feeding disorders: Position statement. ASHA Leader, 7(Suppl. 22), 73.

American Speech-Language-Hearing Association (2002c) Roles of speech-language pathologists in swallowing and feeding disorders: Technical report. Rockville, MD: Author.

American Speech-Language-Hearing Association (2003) Code of ethics. Rockville, MD: Author.

American Speech-Language-Hearing Association (2004) Knowledge and skills needed by speech-language pathologists providing services to infants and families in the NICU environment [Knowledge and Skills]. Available online from www.asha.org/policy.

American Speech-Language-Hearing Association (2004) Roles and Responsibilities of Speech-Language Pathologists in the Neonatal Intensive Care Unit: guidelines. [Guidelines]. Available from www.asha.org/policy

American Speech-Language-Hearing Association (2004) Roles of speech-language pathologists in the neonatal intensive care unit: technical report [Technical Report]. Available from www.asha.org/policy

American Speech-Language-Hearing Association (2001) Roles of speech-language pathologists in swallowing and feeding disorders: technical report [technical Report] Available from www.asha.org/policy.

IASLT Feeding, Eating, Drinking and Swallowing Disorders: Working with Neonates and Babies **Working Group**

Deirdre Bradley Our Lady of Lourdes Hospital, Drogheda

Aoife Costello Enable Ireland Meath Early Services Zelda Greene Children's Health Ireland at Crumlin

Margaret Mary Smith Cork University Hospital/

Cork University Maternity Hospital

Appendices

Appendix I: Core References/Textbooks

Appendix 2: Other Resources

Appendix 1

Core texts and references

Arvedson, J.C., & Rogers, B.T. (1997) Swallowing & Feeding in the paediatric patient, chapter in Perlman, AL and Schulze-Delrieu, K (1997). Deglutition & its disorders: Anatomy, Physiology and clinical diagnosis and management. San Diego: Singular Publishing.

Arvedson, J.C., Lefton-Greif, M.A. (1998) Pediatric Videofluoroscopic Swallow Studies Communication Skill Builders: Texas

Cichero, J., & Murdoch, B.E. (2006) Dysphagia: Foundation, theory and Practice. Wiley.

Evans, Morris S, Klein M (2000) 2^{nd} Ed Pre Feeding Skills: A Comprehensive Resource for Mealtime Development Therapy Skill Builders

Groher, M.E., & Crary, M.A. (2010) Dysphagia: Clinical Management in Adults and Children Mosby Elsevier: Missouri

Klein & Delamney (1994) Feeding and Nutrition for the Child with Special Needs. Therapy Skill Builders: Texas.

Leonard, R., & Kendall, K. (2007) Dysphagia Assessment and Treatment Planning (Book with DVD-ROM) Plural.

Logemann, J.A. (1993) Manual for the Videofluoroscopic Study of Swallowing 2nd Ed Pro Ed: Texas

McCurtin, A. (1997) Manual of Paediatric Feeding Practice. Speechmark.

McCurtin, A. (2007) The Fun with Food Programme: Therapeutic Intervention for Children with Aversion to Oral Feeding. Speechmark.

Perlman, A., & Schulze-Delrieu, K.S. (1997) Deglutition and its Disorders. Singular Publishing: London

Roig-Quilis, M., & Pennington, L. (2011) Oromotor Disorders in Childhood. _Viguera: Barcelona

Winstock, A. (2005) Eating and Drinking Difficulties in Children: A Guide for Practitioners. Winslow Press: Oxon

Wolf, L., & Glass, R. (1992) Feeding and Swallowing Disorders in Infancy: Assessment and Management. Tucson: Therapy Skills Builders.

Useful journals

Dysphagia Journal (Dysphagia)

Journal of Paediatric Child Health (J Ped Ch Health)

Journal of Neonatal Nursing (JNN)

Journal of Perinatology (Perinatology)

Pediatrics (pediatrics)

Developmental Medicine and Child Neurology (dev med and child neurol)

Journal of Parenteral Gastroenterology and Nutrition (JPGN)

Neonatal Networks (Neo Net)

The Cochrane Library www.cochranecollaboration.com

Appendix 2

Please refer to the members section on the IASLT website <u>www.iaslt.ie</u> for a list of special interest groups

RCSLT/ ASHA Division 13- members will have access to special interest groups.